STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. Whether the trial court abused its discretion by finding that Mr. Welch has not been sufficiently rehabilitated after stating that it had "no reasons to doubt" a psychologist's conclusion that Mr. Welch had in fact been "successfully rehabilitated."
- II. Whether the trial court abused its discretion by finding that immediate release is not in the "interests of justice" because Mr. Welch's release plan is "weak" and because the victim's family opposes release, and by leaving the release determination to the U.S. Parole Commission.
- III. Whether the trial court erred by failing to base its findings regarding Mr. Welch's remorse, disciplinary history, and employment on a firm factual foundation.
- IV. Whether the trial court abused its discretion by failing to acknowledge the relevance of Mr. Welch's physical health, and by failing to consider this enumerated factor.
- V. Whether the trial court erred by failing to apply the correct legal standard, which is preponderance of the evidence.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In August 1996, Mr. Welch was indicted on one count each of First Degree Murder While Armed (Premeditated), First Degree Murder While Armed (Felony

Murder), Armed Robbery, Possession of a Firearm During the Commission of a Crime of Violence or Dangerous Offense, and Carrying a Pistol Without a License, in connection with the murder of Michael Tyson. In July 1997, a jury found Mr. Welch guilty of the charged offenses. The Honorable Franklin Burgess sentenced Mr. Welch to a total term of imprisonment of 46 years and 8 months to life in prison, which was later amended to 36 years and 8 months to life in prison.

In August 2022, Mr. Welch, through counsel, filed a Motion to Reduce Sentence Under the Incarceration Reduction Amendment Act, D.C. Code § 24-403.03 ("IRAA"), and requested immediate release from prison. R. at 81-107. The government opposed immediate release but did not oppose a reduction in Mr. Welch's sentence that would make him immediately eligible for parole. *Id.* at 188-96. A hearing on Mr. Welch's IRAA motion was held on December 19, 2022. In May 2023, the Honorable Peter Krauthamer issued an order granting Mr. Welch's IRAA motion in part and issued a new Judgment & Commitment Order reducing his sentence to 30 years to life, which made him immediately eligible for parole. Appx. A at 1-23; Appx. B. However, the trial court declined to grant Mr. Welch's request for immediate release from prison. Appx. A at 22. Mr. Welch filed a timely notice of appeal. R. at 241-42.

¹ "R." refers to the record. This brief cites the pages of the record PDF, not the record index. "Tr." refers to the December 19, 2022, IRAA hearing transcript. "Appx." refers to the Limited Appendix.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Motions Before the Trial Court

Mr. Welch argued in his IRAA motion that, after applying the statutory factors enumerated in D.C. Code § 24-403.03, it is clear that he merits a sentence reduction that grants immediate release from prison. R. at 81. First, Mr. Welch was 23 years old at the time of his offense, and he has been incarcerated for over 27 years.² R. at 89. Mr. Welch is now 50 years old. Over the course of his nearly 30 years in prison, Mr. Welch has transformed from a very troubled young man into a mature, rehabilitated adult who has demonstrated that he is fit to re-enter society. *Id.* at 89-101.

Unfortunately, Mr. Welch had an extremely difficult childhood, which contributed to his criminal behavior. R. at 89-93; 101-02.³ As a child, Mr. Welch witnessed and suffered domestic violence at the hands of both his mother and his father, both of whom abused alcohol and became addicted to drugs. *Id.* at 89-90; 101-02. Mr. Welch's parents were arrested and incarcerated when he was 6 or 7 years old, and he was sent to live in a crowded, volatile home, where he was surrounded by drugs and was sexually abused by a male neighbor. *Id.* at 90-91; 101-

² At the time that Mr. Welch's IRAA motion was filed (August 2022), he had been incarcerated for 26 years.

³ A full accounting of Mr. Welch's background is contained in the psychological and risk evaluation conducted by Dr. Matthew Bruce. R. at 111-138.

02. When Mr. Welch's parents returned from prison when he was 14 years old, they failed to provide him with a stable home, and he had no fixed address by the time he was 19. *Id.* at 92, 102. Mr. Welch's schooling was also unstable, but he did manage to earn his GED when he was 18 years old. *Id.* at 93. Mr. Welch was employed at several locations when he was young, but he eventually turned to selling drugs. *Id.* He became addicted to PCP, and, in the year prior to committing the homicide, he was arrested and incarcerated for 6 months, during which time he became a father, only to later find out that the child was not his. *Id.* at 93-94. Upon release from incarceration, Mr. Welch had no permanent address, experienced homelessness, and turned again to drugs. *Id.* at 94.

Mr. Welch's drug addiction played a significant role in the 1996 homicide. The night began with an exchange of sex for drugs (PCP and crack cocaine) and concluded with the shooting of Mr. Tyson, who resembled Mr. Welch's childhood abuser, after Mr. Tyson gave him and an associate a ride in his car. *Id.* at 94. Mr. Welch and his associate then disposed of Mr. Tyson's body and drove his car away. *Id.* at 94-95.

Mr. Welch is extremely remorseful for his crime. At his IRAA hearing in December 2022, Mr. Welch stated the following:

I just want to say to the Tyson family, I am so sorry for what happened, but PCP played a major part in what happened that night. It was dreadful. It's a horrendous mistake that I made, and I never should have made. It's the constant reminder of me living in this prison situation of

what I have done to your family, of what I have taken from you. I mean, it bears on me every day.

I wanted to commit suicide so many times. I didn't know the mistake that I did. It took years for me to realize, and me back then denying it. I was still young, immature, and didn't want to accept accountability or responsibility.

But today I am telling you from the bottom of my heart that God has used me as a vessel, and I want to apologize to your family wholeheartedly. I am so sorry for what happened, for what I have done, and I apologize from the bottom of my heart. And I just don't want you to live with that hate in your heart for me. I just want like God forgives; I want you to forgive me. I am so sorry.

I'm sorry, Judge. I'm sorry to the Tyson family. I apologize.

Tr. at 16-17. Mr. Welch made similarly profound statements of remorse in a letter to the trial court, which was submitted with his IRAA motion, and in his psychological and risk evaluation, including that he was "devastated that he was responsible," and that he had "no excuse for what I did, I did it, [Mr. Tyson] should be alive with his family now." R. at 98, 108-110, 123. In a letter that Mr. Welch sent to the trial court after his IRAA hearing, he expressed anger and frustration at his lengthy prison sentence and the IRAA process, but he continued to acknowledge that his crime was a "horrible mistake," and nowhere did he express a lack of remorse. *Id.* at 213-16.

Mr. Welch's transformation from a troubled young man capable of committing murder into a mature, rehabilitated adult is exemplified by his impressive record in prison. In his nearly 30 years of incarceration, Mr. Welch has

incurred just 15 disciplinary infractions, the majority of which were classified as moderate severity, with only 2 classified as serious. *Id.* at 95. He has not incurred any infractions for violent conduct in over 18 years, and nearly half of his infractions occurred in 2004, which was nearly 20 years ago. *Id.* at 95, 103. This was a turning point for Mr. Welch, and it was the moment when he decided to become a different person. *Id.* at 96, 103.

During his time in prison, Mr. Welch has taken full advantage of the educational, vocational, and self-improvement programming offered to him. *Id.* His accomplishments include, but are not limited to, his training and employment as a Suicide Companion, his participation in an inmate mentorship program, his completion of many courses through the West Virginia University, including the "Inside Out" re-entry program and "Gaining Control," where he worked as a teacher's assistant, his completion of release preparation programs, and his participation in vocational classes, including graphic arts and leather work. Id. at 96-97; 120-21. In connection with his inmate mentorship program, Mr. Welch was praised for "his ability to be selfless in his thinking" and for showing "countless times that his empathy for others far out-weighs any need for self-recognition." *Id.* at 97. Mr. Welch has also completed a non-residential drug abuse program and has taken a victim impact class. *Id.* at 96-97. Impressively, Mr. Welch has become a prolific writer and has authored numerous books. Id. Given all of the above

information, it is not surprising that Mr. Welch's psychological examiner, Dr. Matthew Bruce, concluded that he "has successfully rehabilitated himself and minimized his risk of future violent reoffending." R. at 129.

Mr. Welch also presented a robust release plan. *Id.* at 98-101. He will have a tremendous amount of assistance from his friends and family members, which is evidenced by the plethora of letters of support submitted with his IRAA motion. *Id.* Upon release, Mr. Welch will reside with his adoptive sister's grandmother in the District. *Id.* at 208. Mr. Welch has also received several offers of employment, including working in landscaping and property development, as well as working as a busboy or host in a club. *Id.* at 99-100. Mr. Welch also submitted an action plan for release, including, but not limited to, his commitment to seeking employment, furthering his education, and mentoring youth. *Id.* at 208-10.

Government's Response to Mr. Welch's IRAA Motion

Significantly, the government concluded that it "does not oppose a sentence reduction that would make the defendant eligible for parole consideration." *Id.* at 191. However, the government opposed immediate release based on 3 factors – his "troubling" disciplinary history, his "lackluster" release plan, and the victim's family's opposition to early release. *Id.* at 191-92. In the government's opinion, making Mr. Welch eligible for parole will only be a "modest delay" in his release, and the U.S. Parole Commission "possesses unparalleled experience and expertise

in assessing and managing recidivism risks among individuals who committed offenses in the District of Columbia . . ." *Id.* at 195.

Trial Court's Ruling

First, the trial court acknowledged that Mr. Welch's threshold eligibility under the IRAA was not in dispute, and that the government conceded that he had met his burden to establish that a reduction in sentence under the IRAA was appropriate. Appx. A at 7 (citing *Williams v. United States*, 205 A.3d 837, 850 (D.C. 2019). Next, the trial court found that Mr. Welch's history and characteristics and family and community circumstances at the time of his offense "counsels in favor of a reduction of sentence, but is neutral in terms of granting or denying immediate release." Appx. A at 9. The trial court also acknowledged that the government did not dispute Mr. Welch's narrative, and that there was no reason to discredit it. *Id*.

Turning to compliance with institutional rules, the trial court found that "Mr. Welch's record counsels in favor of earlier parole, and not immediate release." *Id.* at 11. The trial court noted that "Mr. Welch is still classified as a medium security risk as of 2015 and a medium recidivism risk as of 2021, both well after his streak of offenses subsided," and that, "[n]early all of his infractions involve a concerning pattern of disrespect for authority, which concerns the Court when considering release to supervision." *Id.* at 10-11. The trial court further stated that Mr. Welch's "minimizations [of his infractions] are also concerning," and that, despite his record

being "largely nonviolent," it did "not evince the highest level of rehabilitation and maturity insofar as it shows how he tends to authority or accept responsibility." *Id.* at 11.

Similarly, the trial court found that Mr. Welch's educational, vocational, and other programming in prison is "a net positive" but "counsels in favor of earlier parole and more time to complete programming." *Id.* at 14. The trial court noted a "turning point" in 2004 with programming hitting a "fever pitch" in 2008-2009, but curiously seemed to criticize Mr. Welch by stating that, "he spent most of his time in a few of these activities, such as Inside Out, and much less time on many others." *Id.* at 13. The trial court also noted Mr. Welch's "lack of employment" even though he was hired as a Suicide Companion in 2013, and his psychological evaluation lists several jobs, including working as a dishwasher, grass cutter, launderer, UNICOR painter, mess hall officer, and photographer. *Id.* at 13-14. Ultimately, the trial court concluded that Mr. Welch "can hold down employment," but that "his post-release employment plan remains vague." *Id.* at 14.

Turning to the recommendation of the United States Attorney's Office, the trial court explained that it "does not defer to the government, but in this case agrees with its assessment and recommendation for the reasons provided in the balance of this Order." *Id.* at 14. The trial court therefore agreed with the government's request for a "limited reduction" of Mr. Welch's sentence to 30 years to life, which would

make him immediately eligible for parole. *Id*. As for the victim impact statements of Mr. Tyson's family members opposing his release, the trial court found that, "the victims' positions lead the Court to conclude that immediate release would not be in the interests of justice." *Id*. at 19.

The trial court next found that it was "not convinced" that Mr. Welch had demonstrated maturity, rehabilitation, and a fitness to reenter society sufficient to justify a sentence reduction, despite his history of expressing deep remorse for his crimes, including in his letters, pleadings, and IRAA hearing testimony. Id. Curiously, the trial court praised Mr. Welch for stating in his first letter that he was "remorseful" and "committed a horrendous crime that destroyed many lives," but then criticized him for, in the trial court's opinion, making "conclusory statements of remorse and maturation and desire for release, and not the details to back it up." Id. at 14-15. Focusing on a letter that Mr. Welch sent in April 2023 (following his IRAA hearing), the trial court stated that, "it is clear that he remains angry and refuses to fully accept his role in the offense." *Id.* at 15. The trial court further found that "whatever remorse he expressed is gone and replaced by entitlement." *Id.* The trial court characterized Mr. Welch's anger as "an example of an extreme reaction to an inconvenience," and found that Mr. Welch "does not appear to have done much while incarcerated to address that anger and his feeling, echoed throughout his motion and exhibits, that everything just happens to him – his underlying offense,

his incarceration, his disciplinary record." *Id.* Moreover, the trial court construed the indication in the psychologist's report that Mr. Welch should not be allowed near the scene of the offense to mean that "he has not sufficiently dealt with his emotional response to triggers," even though the report concluded that Mr. Welch was unlikely to reoffend upon release. *Id.* at 15. The trial court put very little emphasis on the fact that the 1996 homicide was "an immature reaction to a very real trigger," which was "not abnormal for a young man." *Id.* at 15-16.

The trial court then placed considerable emphasis on Mr. Welch's release plan, finding that, though it is full of "honest support from many friends and family," it was "as bare as could be regarding housing and employment," citing the lack of the "specific nature or location of the jobs or his ability to do them," the fact that work as a mentor might be unpaid, and the fact that he found a different location to live. *Id.* at 16-17. The court then faulted Mr. Welch for supplementing his release plan with "a one-week action plan that is overly ambitious and does not realistically account for how long certain processes take, or the future beyond his first week of release." *Id.* at 16. In conclusion, the trial court found that, "Mr. Welch needs much more structure, and not just the support of family, friends, and former IRAA recipients upon release for the Court to feel confident that a sentence reduction to immediate release is appropriate." *Id.* at 17.

With regard to physical, mental, and psychiatric reports, the trial court stated that "his medical record is a part of the record of this case from his Compassionate Release motion and is not of any relevance here." *Id.* at 19. As for Mr. Welch's psychological evaluation, the trial court noted the findings that he presents a "low risk of violent reoffending of any severity in the community" and that he "has successfully rehabilitated himself and minimized his risk of future violent reoffending." *Id.* at 19-20. Though the trial court "has no reasons to doubt Dr. Bruce's conclusions," it found that it is "not satisfied that this rehabilitation is sufficient to merit relief under IRAA." *Id.* at 20.

The trial court then turned to Mr. Welch's role in the offense and the extent to which another person was involved and found that "this is not a case of peer pressure or youth groupthink." *Id.* at 20. The trial court also made the finding that Mr. Welch's primary role in the offense "does not push the Court in either direction regarding release." *Id.* at 20-21. Finally, the trial court found that Mr. Welch has diminished culpability since he was under the age of 25 at the time of the homicide, but that it could not "reach a definitive conclusion as to his personal aging out of crime." *Id.* at 20-21. In conclusion, the trial court found that Mr. Welch was not a danger to the community, but that he was "not quite rehabilitated yet," and immediate release was not appropriate in the "interests of justice" given his "weak" release plan and the position of the victim's family members. *Id.* at 21-22.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In denying Mr. Welch's request for a reduction in sentence that affords immediate release from prison, the trial court erred in several ways. First, the trial court abused its discretion by finding that Mr. Welch has not been sufficiently rehabilitated after stating that it had "no reasons to doubt" a psychologist's conclusion that Mr. Welch had in fact been "successfully rehabilitated." Next, the trial court abused its discretion by finding that immediate release is not in the "interests of justice" because Mr. Welch's release plan is "weak" and because the victim's family opposes release, and by leaving the release determination to the U.S. Parole Commission. Additionally, the trial court erred by failing to base its findings regarding Mr. Welch's remorse, disciplinary history, and employment on a firm factual foundation. The trial court also abused its discretion by failing to acknowledge the relevance of Mr. Welch's physical health, and by failing to consider this enumerated factor. Finally, the trial court erred by failing to apply the correct legal standard, which is preponderance of the evidence. For these reasons, Mr. Welch respectfully requests that this Court reverse the portion of the trial court's order that denies immediate release from prison.

ARGUMENT

Following a series of Supreme Court decisions addressing the constitutionality of sentencing juvenile offenders to life without parole, the D.C.

Counsel adopted the Incarceration Reduction Amendment Act of 2016, D.C. Code § 24-403.03. See Roper v. Simmons, 543 U.S. 551 (2005) (holding that the Eighth Amendment forbids the execution of juvenile offenders); Graham v. Florida, 560 U.S. 48, 75 (2010) (holding that the Eighth Amendment prohibits sentencing juvenile offenders to life without parole for non-homicide crimes); Miller v. Alabama, 567 U.S. 460 (2012) (invalidating mandatory sentences of life without parole for juvenile homicide offenders); Montgomery v. Louisiana, 577 U.S. 190 (2016). The IRAA protects youthful offenders' Eighth Amendment right against cruel and unusual punishment and recognizes the Supreme Court's mandate that they must have a "meaningful opportunity to obtain release based on demonstrated maturity and rehabilitation." Graham, 560 U.S. at 75.

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