#### BRIEF FOR APPELLEE



#### DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

No. 23-CO-374

Clerk of the Court Received 12/08/2023 12:06 PM Filed 12/08/2023 12:06 PM

NATHAN WELCH,

Appellant,

v.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Appellee.

#### APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA CRIMINAL DIVISION

MATTHEW M. GRAVES United States Attorney

CHRISELLEN R. KOLB JOHN P. MANNARINO THOMAS STUTSMAN

- \* ANNE M. COTTER
  MD Bar
  Assistant United States Attorneys
- \* Counsel for Oral Argument 601 D Street, NW, Room 6.232 Washington, D.C. 20530 Anne.Cotter2@usdoj.gov (202) 252-6829

Cr. No. 1996-FEL-2349

##

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

to the safety of any person or the community and that the interests of justice warrant a sentence modification." D.C. Code § 24-403.03(a)(2); see Williams, 205 A.3d at 850 (defendant bears the burden of proof); Bailey v. United States, 251 A.3d 724, 729 (D.C. 2021) ("the preponderance standard is the 'default rule"). The trial court's ultimate decision regarding resentencing under the IRAA is based on a "discretionary consideration of multiple factors without preordained weights assigned to them." Williams, 205 A.3d at 854. This Court reviews a trial court's IRAA ruling "for abuse of discretion." Id. at 848; see also Griffin v. United States, 251 A.3d 722, 723-24 (D.C. 2021) (motions for sentence reduction under D.C.'s compassionate release statute reviewed for abuse of discretion); Cook v. United States, 932 A.2d 506, 507 (D.C. 2007) (motions for sentence reduction reviewed for abuse of discretion). Additionally, absent clear error, this Court accepts the trial court's factual findings. Tann v. United States, 127 A.3d 400, 465 (D.C. 2015).

#### B. Discussion

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Welch's request for immediate release. In its lengthy opinion, the trial court carefully considered the record evidence as it related to each of the

IRAA's multiple factors. Williams, 205 A.3d at 854. While Welch may disagree with how the trial court weighed the IRAA factors and its conclusions from the record evidence, his complaints do not form a basis for reversal. See Sharps v. United States, 246 A.3d 1141, 1159 n.90 (D.C. 2021).

# 1. The trial court did not abuse its discretion by finding that Welch had not been sufficiently rehabilitated.

Contrary to Welch's claim (Br. 15-17), the trial court did not abuse its discretion in finding that Welch was not sufficiently rehabilitated to merit relief under the IRAA. Welch complains (Br. 16) that the trial court contradicted Dr. Bruce's psychological risk evaluation and made findings "not founded in the record." His claim is meritless. In its detailed analysis, the trial court considered Dr. Bruce's evaluation and conclusions and weighed that information against evidence of Welch's lack of rehabilitation (R. 17 at 14-16, 19-20). While the trial court had "no reasons to doubt Dr. Bruce's conclusions," the trial court was not required to give his opinions controlling weight. See Robinson v. United States, 50 A.3d 508, 523 (D.C. 2012) ("[T]he weight to be given an expert opinion is for the [fact-finder] to decide."); cf. Fitzgerald v. United States, 228 A.3d

429, 440 (D.C. 2020) (fact-finder "may credit portions of a witness's testimony and discredit others"). Further, the IRAA mandates that "[t]he court . . . consider" the IRAA factors, not an expert. D.C. Code § 24-403.03(c) (emphasis added).6

Moreover, contrary to Welch's argument (Br. 16-17), the trial court's findings regarding Welch's rehabilitation were based in the record. The trial court found that Welch had not adequately demonstrated maturity and rehabilitation, in part, because of Welch's letters that he submitted as part of the IRAA proceedings (R. 17 at 15-16). In the letter Welch sent after the IRAA hearing, Welch failed to fully accept responsibility for his offense, and instead focused on the impact this case has had on him, and declared an entitlement to relief (*id.*). Moreover, the trial court found that the letter demonstrated that Welch had not learned to control his anger when triggered (*id.*). The trial court also found that Dr. Bruce's statement that Welch should not be allowed

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Welch states (Br. 17) that the trial court adopted Dr. Bruce's finding that Welch was successfully rehabilitated. The trial court, however, stated that it had "no reasons to doubt Dr. Bruce's conclusions" and did not explicitly adopt his findings (R. 17 at 20).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The trial court also noted that the Bureau of Prisons (BOP) classified Welch as "a medium risk of recidivism" (R. 17 at 16).

near the scene of the offense to be significant, because it showed that Welch had not "sufficiently dealt with his emotional response to triggers" (id.). While Dr. Bruce did not expressly address that concern, the trial court was "free to make its own independent evaluation of the evidence." Nest & Totah Venture, LLC v. Deutsch, 31 A.3d 1211, 1222 (D.C. 2011). In other words, the trial court did precisely what the IRAA mandates: the trial court weighed Dr. Bruce's conclusions against Welch's own statements and other evidence and permissibly concluded that Welch was not sufficiently rehabilitated (R. 17 at 14-17). See Williams, 205 A.3d at 854.

2. The trial court did not abuse its discretion by finding that Welch's immediate release was not in the interests of justice.

Contrary to Welch's argument (Br. 17-18), the trial court appropriately considered the victim impact statements in determining that Welch's immediate release would not be in the interests of justice. Relying on *Bailey*, 251 A.3d at 731, Welch argues (Br. 17-18) that the trial court should have only given the victim impact statements "limited consideration." But *Bailey* is inapposite. There, this Court "detect[ed] no

error in the trial court's limited consideration of victim impact statements" in the context of compassionate release, because victim impact statements "are relevant to compassionate release decisions only insofar as they inform the determination of a prisoner's . . . dangerousness." Bailey, 251 A.3d at 731; see D.C. Code § 24-403.04 ("the court shall modify a term of imprisonment . . . if it determines the defendant is not a danger . . . pursuant to the factors to be considered in 18 U.S.C. §§ 3142(g) and 3553(a)). Unlike the compassionate release statute, the IRAA does not limit the trial court's consideration of any of the enumerated factors. See D.C. Code § 24-403.03(a)(2) (requiring a sentence reduction if "[t]he court finds, after considering the factors set forth in subsection (c) . . ., that the defendant is not a danger . . . and that the interest of justice warrant a sentence modification"). Thus, Welch can show no abuse of discretion, because the IRAA required the trial court to consider the victim impact statements, and it was within the trial court's discretion to determine how much weight to give such statements. Williams, 205 A.3d at 854; see Sharps, 246 A.3d at 1159 n.90 ("It is not [this Court's] function to engage in the discretionary balancing of relevant factors that is committed to the trial court" (cleaned up)).

Next, Welch complains (Br. 18-19) that the trial court abused its discretion in finding that Welch's release plan was weak. The trial court noted that Welch had been promised jobs, including by Meekins who testified at the IRAA hearing, but "no one provide[d] the specific nature or location of the jobs or [Welch's] ability to do them" (R. 17 at 16). After the trial court warned Welch that his plan was too vague and directed him to supplement it, Welch still failed to provide any meaningful detail about his employment plans (id.). See R. 15. Moreover, his supplement only provided a one-week plan that the trial court found was "overly ambitious" and unrealistic (R. 17 at 16). And regarding Welch's housing plan, in his supplement he changed where and with whom he planned to stay, and, other than the address, provided no details of the home, such as how long he could stay there (id. at 16-17). See R. 15 at 1.

Contrary to Welch's argument (Br. 19), the trial court's assessment of his plan was founded in the record; the trial court's order illustrates that it carefully considered Welch's submissions and the testimony at the IRAA hearing, but concluded that Welch's plan was insufficient (R. 17 at 16-17). Welch's disagreement with the trial court's assessment of his release plan is not grounds for reversal. *See Anderson v. Bessemer City*,

470 U.S. 564, 574 (1985) ("Where there are two permissible views of the evidence, the fact[-]finder's choice between them cannot be clearly erroneous."); cf. Dorsey v. United States, 60 A.3d 1171, 1205 (D.C. 2013) (recognizing trial court's prerogative "to determine credibility and weigh the evidence"). Nor is Welch's disagreement with the weight that the trial court placed on his weak release plan grounds for reversal. See Williams, 205 A.3d at 854; Sharps, 246 A.3d at 1159 n.90.

Finally, Welch contends (Br. 19-20) that trial court abused its discretion by leaving "Welch exposed to a life sentence." Welch ignores that the IRAA specifically contemplates the partial grant of an IRAA motion by "lowering the minimum terms imposed" and making a prisoner "eligible for parole much earlier," Williams, 205 A.3d at 849, which is what the trial court did here, see D.C. Code § 24-403.03(d) ("If the court

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Welch states (Br. 19) that "contrary to the trial court's findings, 'the interests of justice' are not served by leaving the release decision to the U.S. Parole Commission." To be clear, the trial court did not specifically find that allowing the U.S. Parole Commission to determine release was in the interests of justice; rather, the trial court found that the "interests of justice' do not merit immediate release" (R. 17 at 22). The trial court also explicitly rejected the government's suggestion that the U.S. Parole Commission was better equipped to determine whether to release Welch (*id.* at 22 n.10).

denies or grants only in part the defendant's 1st application under this section . . ." (emphasis added)). Moreover, Welch has two more opportunities to seek further IRAA relief, so his potential release is not left solely in the hands of the U.S. Parole Commission. See D.C. Code § 24-403.3(d). If Welch fails to meet his burden in three IRAA applications, that "does not mean he has been denied what the Eighth Amendment requires." Williams, 205 A.3d at 854.

3. The trial court based its findings regarding Welch's remorse, disciplinary history, and employment on a firm factual foundation.

The trial court did not abuse its discretion because it based its findings regarding Welch's remorse, disciplinary history, and employment on a firm factual foundation. First, contrary to Welch's claim (Br. 21-23), there was ample evidence in the record supporting the trial court's conclusion that Welch had not adequately expressed remorse. For example, in Welch's letter to the trial court after his IRAA hearing, he stated that he is "unable to ever live normally" and "unable to go back to the free world because [his] murder convictions are too much to bare (sic) for some" (R. 16 at 1). Welch then complained that he "lost [his] life to a

flawed justice system" and refers to his sentence as "the outlandish banishments that's been given to [him]" (id.). Welch continued to offer excuses for his crimes, insisting that he "should have been forgiven for the shit storm that [he had] been in" and that "[e]ven after 27 years of imprisonment, [he] is still explaining how [his] undeveloped brain led to [his] misbehaving" but "for some reason that's being way overlooked in [his] situation" (id. at 2, 4). Welch also dismissed the IRAA hearing itself as a "public hanging!!!" and stated "all that judge did [was] only allow[] the victim's family to demean, insult, and attack [his] pedigree as if NOBODY CAN EVER CHANGE" (id. at 2) (emphasis original). Welch concluded by criticizing the trial court for the time it was taking to decide his IRAA motion (id. at 3-4). Welch points to other statements he made that he believes demonstrate remorse (Br. 21-23); however, the trial court properly took the entire record into account, and permissibly found that, in light of Welch's letter after the IRAA hearing (R. 16), "whatever remorse [Welch] expressed [was] gone and replaced by entitlement" (R. 17 at 15).

Second, Welch complains (Br. 24) that the "trial court's finding that [he] minimized his disciplinary infractions is not firmly rooted in the

evidence of record." Welch asserts that the trial court "misconstrued his explanations as 'minimizations" (id. (quoting R. 17 at 10-11)). Welch, however, explained that most his infractions occurred at during a time that he believed he "was being targeted by officers" (R. 7 at 15). Moreover, Welch claimed that the incident where he punched an officer and broke his nose "was actually facilitated by officers" (id. at 15-16). Welch also attributed his misconduct to "learning [antisocial behaviors] from others" (id. at 16). While Welch now claims these statements were explanations, not minimizations, the trial court was not required to see it that way. See Anderson, 470 U.S. at 574. And even if characterized as "explanations," they were self-serving, in that they deflected responsibility for Welch's misconduct onto others.

Third, Welch asserts (Br. 25) that the trial court was "unequivocally wrong" for finding that Welch's employment record was uncorroborated. Welch claims (Br. 24-25) that Dr. Bruce's psychological evaluation corroborated his employment because the evaluation cited Bureau of Prisons (BOP) records. In the evaluation, Dr. Bruce stated that "Welch reported" his various jobs and that his "work assignments reflect increasingly levels of challenge, complexity responsibility, and trust" (R.

7 at 41). Dr. Bruce then noted that Welch had received "satisfactory" evaluations and cited the "Individualized Needs plan – Program review, 11/13/2020" (*id.* at 41 & n.6). Dr. Bruce's citation appears to only support that Welch had received "satisfactory" evaluations, and Welch did not provide that document with his IRAA motion (*see id.*).

Accordingly, as the trial court recognized, Welch's employment history was uncorroborated because Welch did not provide any underlying documents that supported his own statements. *See Williams*, 205 A.3d at 850 (defendant bears the burden of proof under the IRAA). Nonetheless, the trial court acknowledged the employment that Welch had reported and that he received positive reviews (R. 17 at 14). The trial court concluded that Welch showed that "he can hold down employment" and the record was a "net positive" (*id.*). Therefore, the lack of corroboration appears to be of little consequence to the trial court's determination.

Thus, the trial court had a "firm factual founding" for its findings regarding Welch's remorse, disciplinary history, and employment. Johnson v. United States, 398 A.2d 354, 364 (D.C. 1979). "That the record might have supported a different outcome is no basis for upending the trial court's decision." Macklin v. Johnson, 268 A.3d 1273, 1279 (D.C. 2022); see Roberts v. United States, 216 A.3d 870, 886 (D.C. 2019) ("When two or more inferences can be reasonably deduced from the facts, the reviewing court is without power to substitute its deductions for those of the [factfinder]."); In re K.C., 200 A.3d 1216, 1233 (D.C. 2019) (stating that this Court's role is "supervisory in nature and deferential in attitude" when reviewing a trial court's decision); Brooks v. United States, 993 A.2d 1090, 1093 (D.C. 2010) (recognizing that "the decision-maker exercising discretion has the ability to choose from a range of permissible conclusions") (quoting Johnson, 398 A.2d at 361-62)); see also Dorsey, 60 A.3d at 1205.

# 4. The trial court did not fail to consider an enumerated factor.

Contrary to Welch's claim (Br. 25-27), the trial court did not fail to consider an enumerated factor, specifically, "[a]ny reports of physical, mental, or psychiatric examinations of the defendant conducted by licensed health care professional." D.C. Code § 24-403.03(c)(7). As Welch acknowledges (Br. at 26), the trial court considered a psychological risk evaluation by Dr. Bruce. Further, the trial court found that BOP's

classification of Welch's physical health as "[L]evel 2 – stable chronic care" and mental health as "Care Level 1" did not impact Welch's release (R. 17 at 19). Although the trial court noted that Welch's medical record was part of the record from his compassionate release motion, Welch did not submit any physical health reports in support of his IRAA motion (*id.*). Moreover, Welch exclusively relied on Dr. Bruce's evaluation when he argued that subsection (c)(7) weighed in favor of his release (R. 7 at 25-26).

For the first time on appeal, Welch argues that he should be immediately released under the IRAA because his health conditions "may shorten his lifespan and make it more likely that he ultimately serves a life sentence" (Br. 27). Because Welch did not squarely raise his physical health as a reason for immediate release, he cannot fairly claim that the trial court abused its discretion in failing to do so sua sponte. See, e.g., Littlejohn v. United States, 73 A.3d 1034, 1038 (D.C. 2013) (argument not raised in motion before trial court in collateral proceeding is waived on appeal); Mitchell v. United States, 977 A.2d 959, 968 (D.C. 2009) (same). Moreover, contrary to Welch's suggestion (Br. 25-26), the trial court did not entirely fail to consider Welch's physical health; the trial court noted

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